
 
 

Agenda 
 

Audit Committee Meeting 
 
Date: Wednesday, 24 January 2024 
Time 7.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT* 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Andy Booth, Derek Carnell (Vice-Chair), Simon Clark (Chair), Angela Harrison, 
Mike Henderson, Rich Lehmann, Tara Noe, Richard Palmer and Dolley Wooster. 
 
Quorum = 3 

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website by 23 January 2024. 
 
Recording and Privacy Notice  
 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.   Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

(a) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire 
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this. 

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room, 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the 
lifts. 

(c) In the event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the 
nearest safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of 
the car park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the 
building until advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.  

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known 
during this agenda item. 

 
2.   Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.   Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2023 (Minute 
Nos. 380 – 383) as correct records.  
 

 

4.   Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to 

declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an 

item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the 

debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this 

and leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

 

 

5.   Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 
 

5 - 22 

6.   Treasury Management Half Year Report 
 

23 - 36 

7.   Internal Audit & Assurance Progress Report 2023/24 
 

37 - 46 

8.   External Auditors Annual Report 2022/23 
 

47 - 82 

9.   Urgent Item - Final Audit Findings Report 
 
This item was added on 17.01.2024 
 

83 - 116 

 

 
 
 

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=3938&Ver=4


 

Issued on Monday, 15 January 2024 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES at 
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk. To find out more about the 
work of this meeting, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

 

Audit Committee   

Meeting Date 24 January 2024 

Report Title Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement  

Lead Officer Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement 
Olga Cole, Management Accountant 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 
 

1. To recommend to Policy and Resources committee the 
Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 and the Prudential 
and Treasury Management Indicators. 

 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

1.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing 
and investments, and the associated risks. The Council has invested substantial 
sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of 
invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the 
Council’s prudent financial management. 

1.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2021 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which 
requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start 
of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the 
Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

2.  External Context   

2.1 Economic background:  The impact on the UK from higher interest rates and 
inflation, a weakening economic outlook, an uncertain political climate due to an 
upcoming general election, together with war in Ukraine and the Middle East, will 
be major influences on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2024/25. 

2.2 The Bank of England (BoE) increased Bank Rate to 5.25% in August 2023, before 
maintaining this level in September and then again in November. Members of the 
BoE’s Monetary Policy Committee voted 6-3 in favour of keeping Bank Rate at 
5.25%. The three dissenters wanted to increase rates by another 0.25%. 

2.3 The November quarterly Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecast a prolonged 
period of weak Gross Domestic Product (GDP) with the potential for a mild 
contraction due to ongoing weak economic activity.  The outlook for CPI inflation 
was deemed to be highly uncertain, with near-term risks to CPI falling to the 2% 
target coming from potential energy price increases, strong domestic wage growth 
and persistence in price-setting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2 

 
 

 

2.4 ONS figures showed CPI inflation was 3.9% in November 2023, down from a 4.6% 
rate in the previous month and, in line with the recent trend, lower than expected.  
The core CPI inflation rate declined to 5.1% from the previous month’s 5.7%, 
again lower than predictions.  Looking ahead, using the interest rate path implied 
by financial markets the BoE expects CPI inflation to continue falling slowly, but 
taking until early 2025 to reach the 2% target before dropping below target during 
the second half 2025 and into 2026. 

2.5 ONS figures showed the UK economy contracted by 0.1% between July and 
September 2023.  The BoE forecasts that higher interest rates will constrain GDP 
growth, which will remain weak over the entire forecast horizon. 

2.6 Credit outlook:  Moody’s revised its outlook on the UK sovereign to stable from 
negative to reflect its view of restored political predictability following the volatility 
after the 2022 mini-budget. Moody’s also affirmed the Aa3 rating in recognition of 
the UK’s economic resilience and strong institutional framework. 

2.7 Following its rating action on the UK sovereign, Moody’s revised the outlook on 
five UK banks to stable from negative and then followed this by the same action on 
five rated local authorities. However, within the same update the long-term ratings 
of those five local authorities were downgraded. 

2.8 There remain competing tensions in the banking sector, on one side from higher 
interest rates boosting net income and profitability against another of a weakening 
economic outlook and likely recessions that increase the possibility of a 
deterioration in the quality of banks’ assets. However, the institutions on our 
adviser Arlingclose’s counterparty list remain well-capitalised and their 
counterparty advice on both recommended institutions and maximum duration 
remain under constant review and will continue to reflect economic conditions and 
the credit outlook. 

3. Background 

Interest Rate Forecast and Market Outlook 
 

3.1 Interest rate forecast (December 2023):  Although UK inflation and wage growth 
remain elevated, the Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose forecasts 
that Bank Rate has peaked at 5.25%.  The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Committee will start reducing rates in 2024 to stimulate the UK economy but will 
be reluctant to do so until it is sure there will be no lingering second-round effects.  
Arlingclose sees rate cuts from Q3 2024 to a low of around 3% by early-mid 2026. 

3.2 Arlingclose expects long-term gilt yields to be broadly stable at current levels 
(amid continued volatility), following the decline in yields towards the end of 2023, 
which reflects the expected lower medium-term path for Bank Rate.  Yields will 
remain relatively higher than in the past, due to quantitative tightening and 
significant bond supply.  As ever, there will undoubtedly be short-term volatility due 
to economic and political uncertainty and events. 

 

 

Page 6



3 

 
 

 

Official Bank 
Rate 

Curr
ent 

Dec-
23 

Mar- 

24 

Jun- 

24 

Sep- 

24 

Dec-
24 

Mar- 

25 

Jun- 

25 

Sep- 

25 

Dec-
25 

Mar- 

26 

Jun- 

26 

Sep-
26 

 % % % % % % % % % % % % % 

Upside Risk 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 

Central Case 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.00 4.75 4.25 4.00 3.75 3.50 3.25 3.00 3.00 

Downside Risk 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.50 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 

 
 

3.3 For the purpose of setting the 2024/25 budget, it has been assumed that new 
treasury investments will be made at an average rate of 4.50%, and that new 
short-term loans will be borrowed at an average rate of 5.50%. 

3.4 Where investment income exceeds budget, e.g. from higher risk investments 
including pooled funds, or debt interest paid falls below budget, e.g. from cheap 
short-term borrowing, then an assessment of savings will be made with a view to 
transferring an appropriate amount to a treasury management reserve to cover the 
risk of capital losses or higher interest rates payable in future years. Transfers to 
reserves will be brought before the Policy and Resources Committee for approval. 

Borrowing Strategy 
 

3.5 The Council’s chief objective, when borrowing money, is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of 
those costs over the period for which funds are required. The flexibility to 
renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary 
objective. 

3.6 The Council currently holds £5 million of loans, as part of its strategy for funding 
previous years’ capital programmes. The Council may borrow additional sums to 
pre-fund future years’ requirements, providing this does not exceed the authorised 
limit for borrowing of £57.5 million.  

3.7 Councils are required to balance their revenue budget annually and cannot borrow 
to achieve a balanced position.  However, they have very far reaching powers to 
borrow to fund capital expenditure. Recently this has been funded from borrowing 
from other Local Authorities. There is also an option to borrow from Public Works 
Loans Board (PWLB), which is part of the Debt Management Office which is part 
of the Treasury.  Borrowing from PWLB can be for up to 50 years at rates which 
are below commercial rates. 

3.8 CIPFA has published its revised Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code 
of Practice and these are available for sale on the CIPFA publications website.  
The Revised Prudential Code took effect from December 2021, although 
authorities could defer introducing the revised reporting requirements until the 
2023/24 financial year if they wish.  It particularly highlights that the requirement 
that local authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return applies 
with immediate effect.  In August 2021 HM Treasury significantly revised their 
PWLB guidance.  This includes a statement highlighting that the government and 
CIPFA are clear that borrowing to invest for yield is not permitted under the 
prudential framework. This Council has had a clear policy of not borrowing for 
income purposes. 

Page 7



4 

 
 

 

3.9 Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the 
key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt 
portfolio.  Short-term interest rates are currently at a 15-year high but are expected 
to fall in the coming years and it is therefore likely to be more cost effective over 
the medium-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans 
instead. 

3.10 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.  The benefits of 
internal/short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term 
borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council 
with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine whether 
the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2024/25 with a 
view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost in the 
short-term.  

3.11 The Council may also consider forward starting loans, where the interest rate is 
fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years.  This would enable 
certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a “cost of carry” in the intervening 
period.  In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans to cover unplanned 
cash flow shortages. 

3.12 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are: 

• HM Treasury’s PWLB Lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan 
Board) 

• UK Infrastructure Bank Ltd 

• Any institution approved for investments 

• UK Local Authorities 

• Any other UK public sector body 

• Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

• UK public and private sector pension funds (except the Kent Pension Fund) 

• Capital market bond investors 

• Retail investors via a regulated peer-to-peer platform 

• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 
created to enable local authority bond issues. 

 
3.13 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 

borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 

• Leasing 

• Hire Purchase 

• Private Finance Initiative 

• Sale and Leaseback 

Page 8



5 

 
 

 

• Similar Asset Based Finance 

3.14 The Council has the following loan outstanding: 

Lender 

Amount  
(£ 

million) 
Borrowing 

rate 

Start Date of 
Loan 

Maturity 
Date  

of loan Duration 

North Northamptonshire 
Council  

5 4.30 % 27/02/2023 26/02/2024 12 months 

Total 5     

 
Capital Programme 
 

3.15 The capital program contains a number of projects that will need to be funded from 
borrowing. The anticipated breakdown of capital funding is detailed in Appendix I. 
The Director of Resources has delegation to make borrowing decision as and 
when required to ensure best value is obtained and risks are minimised. 

3.16 Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Council exposed to the 
risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the interest rate 
exposure limits in the treasury management indicators below. 

3.17 Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity 
and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based 
on current interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate 
premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace 
some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. As we currently 
don’t have any long-term loans, this would not be applicable to 2024-25. 

Treasury Investment Strategy 
 

3.18 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  In the past 12 months, 
the Council’s investment balance has ranged between £7.5 and £46.1 million with 
an average investment balance of £25 million.  Levels are expected to be slightly 
lower in the forthcoming year, as capital projects require payment, as well as a 
reduction in passported government grant schemes. 

3.19 The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have 
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest 
rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike 
an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring 
losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 
Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council 
will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of 
inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested. The Council 
aims to be a responsible investor and will consider environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) issues when investing. 

3.20 The Council largely uses Money Market Funds and the Debt Management office 
for short-term investments.  The only long-term investment remains the £3 million 
in the Church, Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA) Property Fund.  

Page 9



6 

 
 

 

3.21 The CIPFA Code doesn’t permit local authorities to both borrow and invest long-
term for cash flow management. But the Council may make long-term investments 
for treasury risk management purposes, including to manage interest risk by 
investing sums borrowed in advance for the capital programme for up to three 
years; to manage inflation risk by investing usable reserves in instruments whose 
value raises with inflation; and to manage price risk by adding diversification to the 
strategic pooled fund portfolio. 

3.22 Environmental, Social and Governance Policy (ESG): considerations are 
increasingly a factor in global investors’ decision making, but the framework for 
evaluating investment opportunities is still developing and therefore the Council’s 
ESG policy does not currently include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria 
at an individual investment level. When investing in banks and funds, the Council 
will prioritise banks that are signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible 
Banking and funds operated by managers that are signatories to the UN Principles 
for Responsible Investment, the Net Zero Asset Managers Alliance and/or the UK 
Stewardship Code. 

3.23 Business models: Under the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 
the accounting for certain investments depends on the Council’s “business model” 
for managing them. The Council aims to achieve value from its treasury 
investments by a business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and 
therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to be 
accounted for at amortised cost. 

3.24 The Council could make use of the following counterparties for both Treasury and 
Non Treasury investments: 

Treasury Investments  

Government 

Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, national 
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development 
banks.  These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a 
lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk.  Investments with 
the UK Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to 
create additional currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts 
for up to 50 years.   

Banks and 
Building 
Societies 
(unsecured) 

Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with 
banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  
These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should 
the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.  See below for 
arrangements relating to operational bank accounts. 

Operational 
Bank Accounts 

The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current 
accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK 
bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than 
£25 billion.  These are not classed as investments but are still subject to the 
risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept below £500,000 
per bank.  The Bank of England has stated that in the event of failure, banks 
with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made 
insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council maintaining operational 
continuity.   

Page 10



7 

 
 

 

Money Market 
Funds 

Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no 
price volatility by investing in short-term money markets.  They have the 
advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of 
investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager 
in return for a small fee.  Although no sector limit applies to money market 
funds, the Council will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a 
variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all times. 

Strategic 
Pooled Funds 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer 
term, but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to 
diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own and 
manage the underlying investments.  Because these funds have no defined 
maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their 
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment 
objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Registered 
Providers 
(unsecured) 

Loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, registered providers of social 
housing and registered social landlords, formerly known as housing 
associations.  These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing in England.  As providers of public services, they retain the 
likelihood of receiving government support if needed. 

Secured 
investments 

Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the potential 
losses in the event of insolvency.  The amount and quality of the security 
will be a key factor in the investment decision.  Covered bonds and reverse 
repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from 
bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the collateral 
upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used.  The 
combined secured and unsecured investments with any one counterparty 
will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. 

Other 
Investments 

This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
unsecured corporate bonds and company loans.  Non-bank companies 
cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s 
investment at risk.   

Non-Treasury Investments  

Non-Treasury 
Investments 

The Council invests in property in the borough and will, where there are 
opportunities, consider further investment, where this is primarily related to 
the functions of the Council such as service delivery and regeneration.  
However, the Council will not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

  
 

3.25 The Council will retain the CCLA property fund and keep the remaining monies 
primarily in Money Market Funds and the Debt Management Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF) (an investment facility operated by the UK Government) or other 
counterparties in table 4.1. The Head of Finance and Procurement does not 
believe that investing in equity or bond funds is advisable at the current time, given 
equity market valuations and the impact on bond investments.  This will be 
reviewed as market conditions develop. 

3.26 Currently the Council makes no direct investments in equities or corporate bonds.  
If this changed in the year the Head of Finance and Procurement will ensure that 
investments are consistent with the Council’s health and climate change 
objectives. 

Page 11



8 

 
 

 

3.27 Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who 
will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an entity has its credit rating 
downgraded, so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then: 

• no new investments will be made; 

• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be; and, 

• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 
investments with the affected counterparty. 

 
3.28 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 

possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch 
negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only 
investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with that 
organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy will not 
apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel, rather 
than an imminent change of rating. 

3.29 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will, therefore, be given to other available 
information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including 
credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential 
government support and reports in the quality financial press and analysis and 
advice from the Council’s treasury management adviser.  No investments will be 
made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, 
even though it may meet the credit rating criteria. 

3.30 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008, 2020 and 2022, this is not generally reflected 
in credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these 
circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of 
higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in 
line with prevailing financial market conditions.  If these restrictions mean that 
insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest 
the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK 
Government, or with other local authorities.  This will cause investment returns to 
fall, but will protect the principal sum invested. 

3.31 The Council currently has the following Investments: 
 
Counterparty 

Average 
Rate 

% 

Balance Invested at  
           30 November 2023 

£’000 

 Invesco Money Market Fund 
DWS (Deutsche) Money Market Fund 
Goldman Sachs Money Market Fund  
Aberdeen Standard Money Market Fund 
Black Rock Money Market Fund 
Morgan Stanley Money Market Fund 
SSGA Money Market Fund 
CCLA Property Fund 

5.33 
5.24 
5.27 
5.25 
5.27 
5.32 
5.29 
5.04 

                                   3,000 
2,470 
3,000 
3,000 
3,000 
3,000 
3,000 
3,000 

Total Investments  23,470 

Page 12



9 

 
 

 

 

 
3.32 The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Codes now covers all the 

financial assets of the Council, as well as other non-financial assets which the 
Council holds primarily for financial return.  This is replicated in the 2018 
Investment Guidance from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC), in which the definition of investments is further broadened 
to also include all such assets held partially for financial return.  The Prudential 
and Treasury Management Codes now have detailed definitions of treasury, 
service and commercial investments.   

3.33 The Council has not made, and will not make, any direct commercial investments 
outside of the Borough.  Capital funds will be used for the benefit of local 
residents.   

3.34 At 31 March 2023 the Council held £4.173 million of longstanding investments in 
12 directly owned properties.  These investments generated £0.2 million of 
investment income for the Council in 2022/23 after taking account of direct costs, 
representing a rate of return of 5.8%.  No significant change in this Investment is 
anticipated in 2024/25. 

3.35 Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged 
hands yet, loan commitments carry similar risks to the Council and are included 
here for completeness.  

3.36 The loans made by the Council are shown below: 

  31 March 2023 
  £’000 
Housing repair loans 1,748 
Employee car loans 51 
Other debtors 304 
Total 2,103 

 
 

3.37 The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to 
repay the principal lent and/or the interest due.  In order to limit this risk, a loss 
allowance is calculated for each debt reflecting the statistical likelihood that the 
debtor will be unable to meet their contractual commitments to the Council, which 
for 2022/23 was £97,000.  The loss allowance has been calculated by reference to 
the Council’s historic experience of default.  In addition, to mitigate risk, all debts 
have to be managed in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.   

3.38 The most significant loans shown are the Housing Repair Loans which are loans 
for private sector housing home adaptations – landlords and owner-occupiers can 
apply for a loan for adaptations that will enable them to stay in their own homes.  
The risk relating to these loans is low as they are a charge of the property and are 
repayable when a property is sold.    

3.39 An analysis of short-term debtors is reported to Policy and Resources committee 
as part of the quarterly Financial Management Report.     

 

Page 13



10 

 
 

 

4. Proposal 

4.1 Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of 
the counterparty types in the table below, subject to the cash limits (per 
counterparty) and the time limits shown. 

Counterparty Time Limit Cash Limits 

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited 

Local Authorities and other government 
entities 

25 years £3m 

Major UK banks / building societies 
unsecured deposits* 

13 months £3m 

Leeds Building Society unsecured 
deposits* 

As per credit 
advice 

£1.5m 

Close Brothers unsecured deposits* As per credit 
advice 

£1.5m 

Money Market Funds* n/a**  £3m each 

Strategic Pooled Funds e.g., Absolute 
return, Equity income, Corporate Bond 
Funds, Multi Asset Funds 

n/a** £3m each 

CCLA Property Fund n/a** £3m 

Registered providers (unsecured) * 5 years £3m in aggregate 

Secured Investments* 25 years £3m in aggregate  

Other Investments * 5 years £3m in aggregate 

Non treasury investments As per credit 
advice 

To be agreed on a case 
by case basis  

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below. 

 

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk 
will only be made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower 
than [A-].  Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used.  However, 
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other 
relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account. 

4.2 The Director of Resources in consultation with the Chair of Policy and Resources 
committee may consider longer duration depending on market conditions.   

4.3 The Council may also purchase property for investment purposes, but the Council 
will not borrow to invest primarily for financial return.  The Council may also make 
loans and investments for service purposes, for example in shared ownership 
housing, as loans to local businesses and landlords, or as equity investments and 
loans to the Council’s owned companies, in line with existing policies and where 
there is a sound business case. 

Page 14



11 

 
 

 

4.4 The Council does not directly invest in financial derivatives although these may be 
present in pooled funds and will be managed in line with the overall treasury 
strategy.  The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as 
swaps, forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 
reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  In line 
with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek external advice and will consider that 
advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully understands 
the implications.  

4.5 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria, assessed using the appropriate credit 
rating for derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the 
methodology in the Treasury Management Practices document will count against 
the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit. Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting 
transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will 
be manged in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.  

4.6 The Head of Finance and Procurement ensures that any commercial deals meet 
the regulatory requirements and the CIPFA prudential framework.   

Treasury Adviser 
 

4.7 The Council has appointed Arlingclose Limited as its treasury management 
adviser and receives specific advice on investment, debt and capital finance 
issues.  Officers meet with Arlingclose on a quarterly basis, receive information 
daily and attend relevant training courses.   

4.8 The day-to-day treasury management activity is undertaken on the Council’s 
behalf by Kent County Council’s Treasury & Investments team to the criteria set 
out in this report.  This has been particularly beneficial in using their relationships 
to obtain the low-cost loans from other Councils. 

5. Alternative Options 

5.1 The Strategy is intended to give flexibility with regard to borrowing and investment 
options. 

5.2 The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy 
for local authorities to adopt.  The Director of Resources believes that the above 
Strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost 
effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk 
management implications, are listed below. 

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower range 
of counterparties and/or 
for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater 

Page 15



12 

 
 

 

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller 

Borrow additional sums at 
long-term fixed interest 
rates 

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to be 
offset by higher 
investment income 

Higher investment balance 
leading to a higher impact 
in the event of a default; 
however long-term interest 
costs may be more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates 

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower 

Increases in debt interest 
costs will be broadly offset 
by rising investment 
income in the medium 
term, but long-term costs 
may be less certain  

Reduce level of borrowing Saving on debt interest is 
likely to exceed lost 
investment income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a lower 
impact in the event of a 
default; however, long-
term interest costs may be 
less certain 

 

6. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

6.1 Consultation has been taken with Arlingclose. 

7. Implications 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Good management of the Council’s cash balances assists 
the overall financial position of the Council and this helps 
to meet the emerging Corporate Plan objectives. 

Financial, Resource and 
Property 

The budget for net investment income in 2024/25 is 
£(121,000). 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

Government and CIPFA requirements complied with. 

Crime and Disorder Not applicable 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

Not applicable 

Health and Wellbeing Not applicable 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

Not applicable 

Page 16



13 

 
 

 

Issue Implications 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

Risk is controlled through adherence to specific guidance 
included in CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes.  The 
principle of security of funds over-rides investment 
performance considerations. 

Equality and Diversity Not applicable 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Not applicable 

 
 
 
 

8. Appendices 

8.1 The following appendices are published with this report and form part of the report. 

• Appendix I Treasury Management Prudential Indicators  

 

9. Background Papers 

None 

 
Acronyms Used: 

BoE The Bank of England 

CCLA Church, Charities and Local Authorities 

CFR Capital Financing Requirement 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

DLUHC Department of Levelling Up, Housing & Communities 

DMADF Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

PWLB Public Works Loan Board 

 
 

Page 17



14 

 
                                                                                                                                               

Appendix I 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 

 

Background 

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have regard to 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) 
when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators.  The objectives of the Prudential Code are to 
ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in 
accordance with good professional practice.  To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these 
objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year. 

 

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

This is a key indicator of prudence.  Statutory guidance states that external debt should not exceed 
the capital financing requirement in the previous year plus the estimates of any increase in the CFR 
at the end of the current year and the next two years.  The table below demonstrates that the 
Council is complying with this aspect of the Prudential Code. 

Gross Debt and the 
Capital Financing 
Requirement 

2023/24 
Revised 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Financing 
Requirements 

60,521 72,390 77,412 76,445 

Gross External Debt (incl 
leases) 

(10,000) (30,500) (40,500) (50,500) 

Internal Borrowing 50,521 41,890 36,912 25,945 

Estimates of Capital Expenditure 

This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains within 
sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  (See Capital 
Programme in 2024/25 Budget Report to Policy and Resources Committee.) 

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing 

2023/24 
Revised 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Expenditure 33,185 31,384 10,625 4,935 

Section 106 Contribution 110 0 0 0 

Grants 14,015 16,469 2,725 2,725 

Capital receipts 2,463 0 0 0 

Reserves 1,910 871 350 460 

Borrowing 14,687 14,044 7,550 1,750 

Total Financing 33,185 31,384 10,625 4,935 

Page 18



15 

 
                                                                                                                                               

Appendix I 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 

 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

This is an indicator of affordability, highlighting the revenue implications of existing and proposed 
capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet financing 
costs, net of investment income. 

Ratio of Financing Costs to 
Net Revenue Stream 

2023/24 
Revised 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

General Fund Total 5.16% 6.85% 6.59% 6.36% 

Authorised Limit for External Debt 

The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e., not net of 
investments) for the Council.  It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing items on 
the Balance Sheet (i.e., long and short-term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long-term 
liabilities).  This Prudential Indictor separately identifies borrowing from other long-term liabilities 
such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for 
capital expenditure and financing, and its approved treasury management policy statement and 
practices. 

The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst-case 
scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash movements. 

The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit). 

 

Authorised Limit for External 
Debt 

2023/24 
Revised 

£’000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£’000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£’000 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£’000 

Borrowing  60,000 55,000 55,000 50,000 

Other long-term liabilities  2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 

Total 62,500 57,500 57,500 52,500 

  

Page 19



16 

 
                                                                                                                                               

Appendix I 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 

 

Operational Boundary for External Debt 

The operational boundary is based on the Council’s estimate of most likely (i.e., prudent but not 
worst case) scenario for external debt.  It links directly to the Council’s estimates of capital 
expenditure, the capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key 
management tool for in-year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities comprise finance leases and 
other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of the Council’s debt. 

 

Operational Boundary 2023/24 
Revised 

£’000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£’000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£’000 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£’000 

Borrowing  40,000 45,000 45,000 40,000 

Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total Operational Boundary 41,000 46,000 46,000 41,000 

 

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk. 
The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be:  

Interest rate risk indicator Limit 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates £(180,000) 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates £180,000 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk.  The upper and lower limits 
on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing will be: 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing Lower Limit 
for 2024/25 

% 

Upper Limit  

for 2024/25 

% 

Under 12 months 0 100 

12 months and within 24 months 0 100 

24 months and within 5 years 0 100 

5 years and within 10 years 0 100 

10 years and above 0 100 

Time period starts on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is the 
earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

 

 

 

 
Page 20



17 

 
                                                                                                                                               

Appendix I 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 

 

Long-term treasury management investments  

The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by 
seeking early repayment of its investments.  The prudential limits on the long-term treasury 
management investments will be: 
 

 

Price Risk Indicator 

2024/25 

Estimate 

£’000 

2025/26 

Estimate 

£’000 

2026/27 

Estimate 

£’000 

No Fixed 
Date 

£’000 

Limit on principal invested longer than 1 year 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Long-term investments with no fixed maturity date include strategic pooled funds and real estate 
investment trusts but exclude money market funds and bank accounts with no fixed maturity date as 
these are considered short-term. 

Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a 
liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes 
that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10m at each year-end to 
maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. 

The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the Council is likely to be a 
long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future, and so shape its strategic focus and decision 
making. The liability benchmark itself represents an estimate of the cumulative amount of external 
borrowing the Council must hold to fund its current capital and revenue plans while keeping treasury 
investments at the minimum level required to manage day-to-day cash flow. 

Prudential Indicator: Liability benchmark 

The long-term liability benchmark above assumes capital expenditure funded by borrowing, 
minimum revenue provision on new capital expenditure based on income, expenditure and reserves 
all increasing by inflation and appropriate asset life values (8 years for waste vehicles, 50 years for 
all other assets). 

 

 

 
31.3.23 
Actual 

£m 

31.3.24 
Estimate 

£m 

31.3.25 
Forecast 

£m 

31.3.26 
Forecast 

£m 

31.3.27 
Forecast 

£m 

Loans CFR  48.3 61.9 73.9 79.1 78.3 

Less: Balance sheet resources (46.3) (41.8) (41.3) (40.8) (40.8) 

Net loans requirement 2.0 20.1 32.6 38.3 37.5 

Plus: Liquidity allowance 10 10 10 10 10 

Liability benchmark 12 30.1 42.6 48.3 47.5 

Page 21



18 

 
                                                                                                                                               

Appendix I 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 

 

 

(120.0)

(100.0)

(80.0)

(60.0)

(40.0)

(20.0)

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41 43 45 47 49 51

Liability Benchmark

Loans CFR External borrowing Net loans requirement Liability benchmark

Page 22



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

Audit Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date 24 January 2024 

Report Title Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023/24 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement  

Lead Officer Olga Cole, Management Accountant 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. To note the performance information in this report. 

2. To note the prudential and treasury management 
indicators within the report. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to review the mid-year position on treasury 

management transactions for 2023/24, including compliance with treasury limits 
and Prudential and Treasury Performance Indicators.  

1.2 The Treasury Management Strategy is underpinned by the adoption of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services, which requires the Council to approve 
treasury management half-year and annual reports.  

1.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 was approved at a 
meeting on 22 February 2023. The Council has invested substantial sums of 
money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested 
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

1.4 In conclusion the Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential 
Indicators for 2023/24 which were set in February 2023 as part of the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement. The Council is required to report on 
the highly technical Prudential Indicators. There are no issues of concern to 
highlight with Members. The indicators are based on approved commitments 
and the current budget. 

 

2 Background 
 
 Market Environment 
  
2.1 Economic background: UK inflation remained stubbornly high over much the 

period compared to the US and euro zone, keeping expectations elevated of 
how much further the Bank of England (BoE) would hike rates compared to the 
regions. However, inflation data published in the latter part of the period 
undershot expectations, causing financial markets to reassess the peak in BoE 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

Bank Rate. This was followed very soon after by the BoE deciding to keep Bank 
Rate on hold at 5.25% in September, against expectation for another 0.25% 
rise, and the interest rate has remained at this level since. 

2.2 Economic growth in the UK remained relatively weak over the period. In 
calendar Q2 2023, the economy expanded by 0.4%, beating expectations of a 
0.2% increase. However, monthly GDP data showed a 0.5% contraction in July, 
the largest fall to date in 2023 and worse than the 0.2% decline predicted which 
could be an indication the monetary tightening cycle is starting to cause 
recessionary or at the very least stagnating economic conditions.  

2.3 Inflation continued to fall from its peak as annual headline CPI declined to 6.7% 
in July 2023 from 6.8% in the previous month against expectations for a tick 
back up to 7.0%. The largest downward contribution came from food prices. The 
core rate also surprised on the downside, falling to 6.2% from 6.9% compared 
to predictions for it to only edge down to 6.8%.  

2.4 Following the September MPC meeting, Arlingclose, the Council’s treasury 
adviser, modestly revised its interest forecast to reflect the central view that 
5.25% will now be the peak in Bank Rate. In the short term the risks are to the 
upside if inflation increases again, but over the remaining part of the time 
horizon the risks are to the downside from economic activity weakening more 
than expected.  

2.5 Arlingclose’s Economic Outlook for the remainder of 2023/24 (based on 25th 
September 2023 interest rate forecast). 

 
Arlingclose do not expects Bank Rate to rise further than 5.25% during 
2023/24.  

2.6 Credit review: Having completed a review of its credit advice on unsecured 
deposits at UK and non-UK banks following concerns of a wider financial crisis 
after the collapse of Silicon Valley Bank purchase of Credit Suisse by UBS, as 
well as other well-publicised banking sector issues, in March Arlingclose 
reduced the advised maximum duration limit for all banks on its recommended 
counterparty list to 35 days. This stance continued to be maintained at the end 
of the period. 

2.7 Following the issue of a Section 114 notice, in September Arlingclose advised 
against undertaking new lending to Birmingham City Council, and later in the 
month cut its recommended duration on Warrington Borough Council to a 
maximum of 100 days. 

2.8 Heightened market volatility is expected to remain a feature, at least in the 
near term and, as ever, the institutions and durations on the Council’s 
counterparty list recommended by Arlingclose remains under constant review. 

 
 

Page 24



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

Borrowing 
 
2.9 CIPFA’s 2021 Prudential Code is clear that local authorities must not borrow to 

invest primarily for financial return and that it is not prudent for local authorities 
to make any investment or spending decision that will increase the capital 
financing requirement, and so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and 
primarily related to the functions of the Authority.  

2.10 On 1 April 2023, the Council had two loans from other local authorities, totalling 
£10m. During the first half of the financial year the Council has repaid one loan. 
On 30 September 2023, the Council’s external borrowing stood at £5m and 
further details can be found within appendix I below. 

Investments 

 
2.11 The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in 

the table below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time limits 
shown. These counterparties were agreed by Policy and Resources Committee 
and Council earlier this year when the 2023/24 Treasury Strategy was 
approved.  

Counterparty Time Limit Cash Limits 

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited 

Local Authorities and other 
government entities 

25 years £3m 

Major UK banks / building societies 
unsecured deposits* 

13 months £3m 

Leeds Building Society unsecured 
deposits* 

As per credit 
advice 

£1.5m 

Close Brothers unsecured deposits* As per credit 
advice 

£1.5m 

Money Market Funds* n/a**  £3m each 

Strategic Pooled Funds e.g., Absolute 
return, Equity income, Corporate Bond 
Funds, Multi Asset Funds 

n/a** £3m each 

CCLA Property Fund n/a** £3m 

Registered providers (unsecured) * 5 years £3m in aggregate 

Secured Investments* 25 years £3m in aggregate  

Other Investments * 5 years £3m in aggregate 

Non treasury investments As per credit 
advice 

To be agreed on a 
case by case basis  

 
* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an 
asterisk will only be made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit 
rating is no lower than [A-].  Where available, the credit rating relevant to the 
specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty 
credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice 
will be taken into account. 

Page 25



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

**These funds have no defined maturity dates but are available for withdrawal 
after a notice period.  

2.12 The Council holds significant investment funds, representing income received 
in advance of expenditure plus balance and reserves held. During the six 
months to 30 September 2023 the Council held average daily cash balance of 
£19.6m (£28.2m September 2022).  

2.13 The Council’s budgeted investment income for the six months to 30 September 
2023 was £113k (£83k September 2022) and the actual income received was 
£484 (£174k September 2022), of which £64k (£58k September 2021) was from 
the Council’s long-term investment in the Church, Charities and Local 
Authorities (CCLA) Mutual Investment Property Fund.  

2.14 The results for the six months to 30 September 2023 show that the Council 
achieved 0.78% (0.23% September 2022) average return below the average   
Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) and 0.80% average return rate below 
the average Bank of England Base Rate.  

2.15 The Council has £3m invested in an externally managed property fund which is 
the CCLA property fund which generated an average total return of 4.26%, 
comprising of a £64k (3.84%, £58k September 2022) income return. Since this 
fund has no defined maturity date but is available for withdrawal after a notice 
period, its performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives are regularly reviewed. Considering its performance and 
the Council’s latest cash flow forecasts, investment in this fund has been 
maintained. 

2.16 Statutory override:  In April 2023 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities published the full outcome of the consultation on the 
extension of the statutory override on accounting for gains and losses on pooled 
investment funds.  The override has been extended for two years until 31 March 
2025 but no other changes have been made; whether the override will be 
extended beyond the new date is unknown but commentary to the consultation 
outcome suggest not.  The Council will discuss with Arlingclose the implications 
for the investment strategy and what action may need to be taken. 

 Compliance with Prudential Indicators 
 

2.17 The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 
2023/24 which were set in February 2023 as part of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement. The Council is required to report on the highly 
technical Prudential Indicators. There are no issues of concern to highlight with 
Members. The indicators are based on approved commitments and the current 
budget.  

2.18 Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators are set out in Appendix II. 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 No changes are proposed at this stage. 

Page 26



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 The Head of Finance and Procurement will consider changes to the 

counterparty criteria with reference to the Council’s agreed policy with regard to 
risk. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the Council’s retained treasury 

management consultants Arlingclose.  
 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Supports delivery of the Council’s objectives. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

As detailed in the report. 

 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

CIPFA produce a framework for managing treasury activities, called 
a ‘Code’.  Councils are legally required to have regard to this Code 
and members of CIPFA are expected to comply with its 
requirements.  This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under 
the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA 
Code and the DLUHC Guidance. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Following CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice is 
important to avoid involvement in potential fraud or money 
laundering. 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

The Council does not own any shares or corporate bonds so there 
are no ethical investment considerations to be met.   

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Not relevant to this report. 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

Not relevant to this report. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

Risk is controlled through adherence to specific guidance included 
in CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice.  The principle 
of security of funds over-rides investment performance. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

Not relevant to this report. 

 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Not relevant to this report. 

Page 27



Treasury Management Half Year Report 2023-24 
 

 
 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of 

the report.   

• Appendix I: Investments and Borrowing as at 30 September 2023 

• Appendix II: Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 

 

8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 None. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Appendix I 

 
 

Investments and Borrowings as at 30 September 2023 

 

 

Counterparty 

 

Long-Term Rating 

 

Balance Invested & 
Borrowed at 30 

September 2023 

£’000 

Money Market Funds 

Invesco Money Market Fund 

Goldman Sachs Money Market Fund  

Aberdeen Money Market Fund 

Black Rock Money Market Fund 

Morgan Stanley Money Market Fund 

SSGA Money Market Fund 

CCLA Property Fund 

 

AAAmmf 

AAAmmf 

AAAmmf 

AAAmmf 

AAAmmf 

AAAmmf 

 

3,000 

2,175 

2,460 

3,000 

3,000 

3,000 

3,000 

Total Fixed Term Deposits, Money 
Market and Property Funds 

 19,635 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS Maturity Date £’000 

North Northamptonshire Council 

 

26/02/2024 (5,000) 

TOTAL BORROWING  (5,000) 

 
The Ratings above are from Fitch credit rating agency. The Long-Term Rating is the benchmark 
measure of probability of default. These ratings are shown for illustrative purposes only, as the 
Council uses the lowest rating across three agencies on which to base its decisions. 
 
AAAmmf: Fund has very strong ability to meet the dual objective of providing liquidity and 
preserving capital. 
 

  

Page 29



Appendix I 

 
 

Investment Activity in 2023/24 
 

Investments 

 

Balance on 
01/04/2023 

 

£’000 

Investments 
Made 

 

£’000 

Investments 
Repaid 

 

£’000 

Balance on 
30/09/2023  

 

£’000 

Average 
Rate  

 

% 

Short Term Investments 
and Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

6,550 101,360 (91,275) 16,635 4.00 

Long Term Investments 3,000 0 0 3,000 4.26 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS  9,550 101,360 (91,275) 19,635  

 
Borrowing Activity in 2023/24 
 

Borrowing 

 

Balance on 
01/04/2023 

 

£’000 

Borrowing 
Made 

 

£’000 

Borrowing 
Repaid 

 

£’000 

Balance on 
30/09/2023  

 

£’000 

Average 
Rate  

 

% 

External Borrowing 10,000 0 (5,000) 5,000 4.21 

Total Borrowing  10,000 0 
 

(5,000) 
 

5,000  

 
Non-Treasury Investments 

 
The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised 2021 Treasury Management Code covers all 
the financial assets of the Council, as well as other non-financial assets which the Council holds 
primarily for financial return. Investments that do not meet the definition of treasury 
management investments (i.e. management of surplus cash) are categorised as either for 
service purposes (made explicitly to further service objectives) and/or for commercial purposes 
(made primarily for financial return). 
 
The Council holds £4.173m (£4.03m September 2022) of a long-standing portfolio of 12 
investment properties within the borough. These investments are expected to generate £0.2m 
(£0.2m September 2022) of investment income for the Council after taking account of direct 
costs, representing a rate of return of 5.8% (5.2% September 2021).   

Page 30



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

1. Background 
 
There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have 
regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in local authorities (the “CIPFA 
Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators.  
 
2. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)  
 
This is a key indicator of prudence. In order to ensure that over the medium term debt will only 
be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that debt does not, except in the 
short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional increases to the capital financing requirement for the current and 
next two financial years.  

 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Revised 
Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

2025/26 

Estimate 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Financing Requirements 48,406 53,996. 61,000 67,803 

External Borrowing (10,000) (30,000) (35,000) (50,000) 

Cumulative External 
Borrowing Requirements 

38,406 23,996 26,000 17,803 

 
External Borrowing: as at 30 September 2023 the Council had £5 million of external 
borrowing – please see Appendix I for further details.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

3. Capital Expenditure 
 
This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains within 
sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  
 

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing 

2022/23 
Actual 

2023/24 
Revised 

Estimate 

2024/25 
Original 

Estimate 

2025/26 
Original 

Estimate 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Expenditure 6,967 26,522 29,711 9,963 

Revenue contributions 1,941 50 509 0 

Capital receipts 28 2,463 0 0 

Grants and other contributions 3,338 9,574 14,602 2,163 

Internal/ External borrowing 1,660 14,435 14,600 7,800 

Total Financing 6,967 26,522 29,711 9,963 

 
4. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
 
This is an indicator of affordability, highlighting the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to 
meet financing costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the Prudential Code.  The 
ratio is based on costs net of investment income.  

 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 

2022/23 
Actual 

% 

2023/24 
Estimate 

% 

2024/25 
Estimate 

% 

2025/26 
Estimate 

% 

Total 1.88 6.62 6.84 5.25 

 
5. Actual External Debt 
 
This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 
actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 
consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit. 
 

Actual External Debt as at 30/09/2023 £’000 

Borrowing 5,000 

Other Long-term Liabilities 0 

Total 5,000 

 

Page 32



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

6. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 
 
The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not 
net of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing 
items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long- and short-term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and 
long-term liabilities). This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long-
term liabilities such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, 
its proposals for capital expenditure and financing, and its approved treasury management 
strategy and practices. 
 
The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst 
case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash 
movements. 
 
The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit). 
 

Authorised Limit for External Debt 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£’000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£’000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£’000 

Borrowing 55,000 55,000 50,000 

Other Long-term Liabilities 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Total  57,000. 57,000. 52,000. 

 
The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates 
of other cash flow requirements. This indicator is based on the same estimates as the 
Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst-case scenario but without the 
additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

 

 

Operational Boundary 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£’000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£’000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£’000 

Borrowing 45,000 45,000 40,000 

Other Long-term Liabilities 500 500 500 

Total Debt 45,500 45,500 40,500 

Page 33



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not significant 
if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash flow, and this is 
not counted as a compliance failure. 
 
The Head of Finance and Procurement confirms that there were no breaches to the Authorised 
Limit and the Operational Boundary during the period to 30 September 2023. 
 
7. Interest Rate Exposure 
 
These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 
interest rates.   
 

Upper Limit for Interest Rate Exposure 
Actual level 
at 30/09/23 

2023/24 
Approved 

Limit 
Complied? 

Interest on fixed rate borrowing 100% 100% ✓ 

Interest on fixed rate investments -0% -100% ✓ 

Interest on variable rate borrowing 0% 100% ✓ 

Interest on variable rate investments -100% -100% ✓ 

 
8. Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 
This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower 
limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were. 
 

Maturity structure of borrowing 

Existing level 
at 30/09/23 

% 

Lower Limit 
for 2023/24 

% 

Upper Limit 
for 2023/24 

% 

Complied 

Under 12 months 100 0 100 ✓ 

12 months and within 24 months 0 0 100 ✓ 

24 months and within 5 years 0 0 100 ✓ 

5 years and within 10 years 0 0 100 ✓ 

10 years and above 0 0 100 ✓ 

 
 

Page 34



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

9. Credit Risk 
 
The Council considers security, liquidity and yield, in that order, when making investment 
decisions. Credit ratings remain an important element of assessing credit risk, but they are not 
a sole feature in the Council’s assessment of counterparty credit risk. 
 
The Council also considers alternative assessments of credit strength, and information on 
corporate developments of and market sentiment towards counterparties. The following key 
tools are used to assess credit risk: 

• published credit ratings of the financial institution (minimum A- or equivalent) and its 
sovereign (minimum AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns); 

• sovereign support mechanisms; 

• credit default swaps (where quoted); 

• share prices (where available); 

• economic fundamentals, such as a country’s net debt as a percentage of its GDP; 

• corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and momentum; and 

• subjective overlay. 
 
The only indicators with prescriptive values remain to be credit ratings. Other indicators of 
creditworthiness are considered in relative rather than absolute terms. 
 
The Head of Finance and Procurement confirms that there were no breaches to 
counterparty limits or credit ratings at the time of placing investments. 
 

10. Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than over 364 days 
 
The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as 
a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 
 

Total Principal Sums Invested Over 364 Days 2023/24  

£’000 

Upper Limit Estimate  10,000 

Actual 3,000 

Complied? ✓ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
 Appendix II 
 

  

11. Investment Benchmarking for the six months to 30 September 2023 
 

Average 
Actual Return 

on Investments 

Original Estimate 
Return on 

Investments 

Average Bank 
Base Rate 

Average Overnight 
SONIA Rate 

4.00%  4.25% 4.80% 4.78% 

 

Page 36



 Page 1 of 2 

Audit Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date 24 January 2024 

Report Title Internal Audit & Assurance Progress Report 2023/24 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery – Director of Resources 

Head of Service Katherine Woodward – Head of Audit Partnership 

Lead Officer Katherine Woodward – Head of Audit Partnership 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. That work completed so far on the 2023/24 Audit & 
Assurance Plan be noted. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report is for information and summarises progress towards delivering the 

Internal Audit to date.  In addition, it also provides updates on:  

• Completed 2022/23 audits which will be used to inform the 2023/24 Audit 
Opinion. 

• Resource changes with the Mid Kent Audit Partnership team.  

• Overall progress.  

• The results of the follow up of agreed management actions.   
 

2 Background 
 
2.1 The Audit Committee approved the 2023/24 audit plan in April 2023. This report 

provides information to Members on the work completed on the Internal Audit 
Plan..   

 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 We present the report to Members for their information and for noting.  

 
 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 We present the report to Members for their information and for noting. 
 
 
 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 We present the report for Member information and for noting.  There has been no 

formal consultation, but its content has been discussed with the Director of 
Resources and Executive Management Team. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 Page 2 of 2 

 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Mid Kent Audit’s work supports all Council activity and the wider  

Corporate Plan in evaluating governance 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The work internal audit does on behalf of Swale Borough Council, 
is carried out within agreed resources.  

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

The Council is required by Regulations to deliver a conforming 
internal audit service 

Crime and 
Disorder 

No direct implications 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

No direct implications 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

No direct implications 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

No direct implications 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

The audit plan draws on the Council’s risk management in  

considering areas for audit review. In turn, audit findings will  

provide feedback on identification and management of risk. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

No direct implications 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

We handled all information collected by the service in line with 
relevant data protection policies. 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 
Appendix I: Internal Audit & Assurance Progress Report.  

 
 
 
 

8 Background Papers 
 
 Full reports which support the audit engagements summarised in this report are 

available on request.  In addition, previous Audit Committee reports can be found 
here. 

Page 38

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=142


MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Internal Audit & 
Assurance Progress 

Report 
 
 

 
 
 

 
January 2024 

Swale Borough Council 
 

  

Page 39



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Introduction 

1. The Institute of Internal Audit gives the mission of internal audit: to enhance and 

protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice 

and insight. 

2. The mission and its associated code of ethics and Standards govern over 200,000 

professionals in businesses and organisations around the world.  Within UK Local 

Government, authority for internal audit stems from the Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015.  The Regulations state services must follow the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards – an adapted and more demanding version of the global 

standards.  Those Standards set demands for our reporting. 

Audit Charter 

3. This Committee approved our Audit Charter in September 2020, and it remains in 

place through this audit year.  A revised Audit Charter will be presented to the Audit 

Committee later in the year. 

Independence of internal audit 

4. Mid Kent Audit works as a shared service between Ashford, Maidstone, Swale and 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils. A Shared Service Board including representatives 

from each council supervises our work based on our collaboration agreement. 

5. We have worked with full independence as defined in our Audit Charter and 

Standard 1100.  On no occasion have officers or Members sought or gained undue 

influence over our scope or findings. 

Management response to risk 

6. We include the results of our work in the year so far later in this report.  In our work 

we often raise recommendations for management action.  During the year so far, 

management have agreed to act on all recommendations we have raised.  We report 

on progress towards implementation in the section titled Agreed Actions Follow Up 

Results. 

7. There are no risks we have identified in our work that we believe management have 

unreasonably accepted. 

 

 
Page 40

https://www.iia.org.uk/resources/ippf/code-of-ethics/
https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2022/708/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2022/708/made
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Resource Need 

8. We reported in our plan presented to this Committee in April 2023 an assessment on 

the resources available to the audit partnership for completing work at the Council.  

That review decided: 

MKA has the skills and expertise to deliver the 2023/24 Audit Plan and it is confirmed 

that planned audit work will enable a Head of Audit opinion for 2023/24 to be 

delivered in Spring 2024.  

9. Since April 2023 we have experienced further change within the audit team:  

•  The Interim Deputy Head of Audit / Audit Manager left the council in June 

2023. 

• Two other members of the team, an Auditor and the Risk and Governance 

officer also left to pursue other opportunities. 

10. The departures since April 2023 and those prior to April, gave rise to an opportunity 

to consider the structure and capacity of the Mid Kent Audit team. Following a 

restructure to ensure the service is fit to deliver the services required for each of the 

partners and to fulfil its statutory responsibilities, a number of appointments have 

been made. 

11. Since August 2023 we have recruited two internal auditors and internally promoted 

three members of the team. We currently have three vacant posts, one of which is 

being covered through use of external contractors, who are also resourcing the 

staffing gap we had in place prior to the recent recruitment exercises.  

12. Despite all this change we continue to make progress through the Audit Plan 

although overall delivery of the plan has been impacted.  

  

Page 41



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Audit Plan Progress: Closing 2022/23 

13. In July, there were several audit engagements, approaching completion that did not 

finish in time for Committee deadlines. The results of these audits will now feed into 

the Head of Audit Partnership annual assurance opinion for 2023/24.  

Audit Review (2022/23) Audit status 
Assurance 

rating 
Number of Actions by Priority Rating 

High Medium Low 

Licensing Enforcement Complete Sound  3  

Private Water Supply Complete Sound   5 

Swale House Refurbishment Project Review stage     

 
Audit Plan Progress:  2023/24 

14. The table below shows current and expected progress through the engagements 

described in the 2023/24 Audit Plan: 

Audit Review Po  Current position 

Social Media Work in progress 

Safety Partnerships Transfer to 2024/25 

Public Health Funerals Work in progress 

Elections Management Audit under review 

Conservation & Heritage Work in progress 

Animal Welfare Draft Report 

Financial Planning – BACS Project  

General Ledger  

Grounds Maintenance Complete - Strong 

Leisure Services  

Emergency Planning Transfer 2024/25 

Performance Management Transfer 2024/25 

Housing Benefits Allocated 

* HR Policy and Compliance  

* Learning & Development Work in progress 

* Land Charges  

* Cyber Security Work in progress 

* IT Disaster Recovery Work in progress 

* Compliance with Computer Use Policy  

* shared service audits, work will include all authorities included in the shared service 

15. The Audits that have not been allocated yet will be allocated when resources 

become available within the team. 

16. Based on the work that is completed, in progress and proposed to be completed I 

can confirm that there will be sufficient work completed to enable an audit opinion 

to be delivered for 2023/24. Page 42



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Overall progress 

17. The table below also summarises (up to 31st December) current days on audit plan 

progress. 

Plan Area Plan Days Actual to 31-Dec-23 

Risk Based Audits 225 96 

Following up of agreed 
actions 

16 5 

Consultancy & Member 
Support 

37 12 

Risk Management 51 7 

Planning 24 9 

Counter Fraud & 
Governance Support 

18 11 

Total 391 140 

 

18. The significantly lower number of audit days delivered to date is due to the number 

of vacant posts at the beginning of the year and the natural length of time to get a 

contractor appointed and delivering audit work. This will balance out towards the 

end of the year, but there will be an impact on overall plan delivery for 2023/24. 

 

Future progress 

19. As part of the review of staffing undertaken earlier in the year, other working 

practices and efficiencies have been identified which will be considered as part of 

the 2024/25 audit plan. One of the areas that will be brought to the committee will 

be a revised approach to audit planning and how this is presented to the audit 

committee. 

20. Every year there are a number of engagements that span into the following year, 

and we are continually reporting ‘out of sync audits’ to the committee. It is proposed 

to address this by removing the reference to specific years for audit engagements 

and to report to the committee a more dynamic and flexible ‘rolling audit plan’. The 

audit plan will detail the number of audit days available and the audits we are 

currently working on and that are due based on their current priority ratings. 

21. This will allow the management and the audit team to be more flexible to respond to 

operational need and the current risk profile of the organisation, while delivering a 

more focussed service. 

 

 Page 43



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Agreed Actions Follow Up Results 

22. Our approach to agreed actions is to follow up each as it falls due in line with the 

plan agreed with management when we finish our reporting.  We will report 

progress on implementation to Council’s Leadership Team each quarter. This 

includes noting any matters of continuing concern and where we have revisited an 

assurance rating (typically after addressing key actions).  

23. As detailed in the yearend report in July, work on following up of actions was paused 

at that time due to resourcing constraints. This work has now resumed and has 

highlighted some outstanding actions from previous years and some changes that 

have been required to the process for ensuring actions are completed. In total, we 

summarise in the table below the current position on following up agreed actions: 

 

 High Medium Low Total 

Total actions 2022/23 

Actions agreed 0 12 11 23 
Actions cleared 0 4 3 7 
Actions not due  0 5 8 13 
Outstanding actions 2022/23 0 3 0 3 

     

Outstanding actions 2021/22 0 0 0 0 
Outstanding actions 2020/21 0 1 0 1 
Outstanding actions 2019/20 0 0 0 0 

Total Outstanding actions 0 4 0 4 

 

24. These outstanding actions have been raised with the Corporate Leadership Team 

who are addressing the concerns we have raised regarding implementation of the 

outstanding work. An update will be provided to the committee in the yearend 

report, once the new process has embedded within the organisation. 

 

  

Page 44



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

Appendix I 

Licensing Enforcement (September 2023) 

The licensing service has up-to-date policies in-line with relevant legislation, and policies 
provide a sound framework for enforcement activities. The constitution clearly defines 
service roles and responsibilities. However, officers were unable to demonstrate the 
appropriate approval of supporting policies and protocols available on the Councils website. 
The Council’s website also provides a poor user experience and lacked application and 
licensing information when compared to other similar local authorities’ websites.  
   
The application process was being followed in those cases we tested. Relevant checks had 
been made and associated documentation retained. However, with inspection record 
keeping, different versions of inspection templates were used for similar premises and there 
was an inconsistent application of the scoring mechanism used to categorise premises. 
 
Inspection activity has significantly reduced compared to pre-pandemic figures which has 
hindered the service in determining a robust inspection regime to contribute to maintaining 
the risk-based approach defined by the service within its policies. 
 
The service monitors expired licenses and follows a process to suspend licenses when 
required. Enforcement activities are intelligence led and officers obtain information on 
licensing issues via regular attendance to a multi-agency forum. Public concerns are a 
valuable source of local intelligence; however, we found a lack of a defined process for 
demonstrating the volume, monitoring and status of complaints coming into the service. 
 
The Licensing service does not have a performance management framework to enable the 
service to report against a considered range of defined targets or desired outcomes.  
 

Private Water Supplies (October 2023) 

The Mid Kent Environmental Health (MKEH) function is regulated by the Private Water 

Supplies (England) Regulations 2016 and the Private Water Supplies (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2018. We found officers across the partnership were suitably experienced and 

qualified (were necessary) to deliver its primary functions - registration, risk assessments 

and sampling 

 

We found that MKEH function is fulfilling its statutory obligation of annually submitting data 

to the (DWI). Likewise, we found the MKEH function publishes Private Water Supply 

information across its three partnership websites. However, we found it to be out of date 

and does not outline the approved fees and charges applicable.  

 

The MKEH function has produced a number of procedure and guidance notes, which cover 

the main processes (registration, risk assessments and sampling. We found some of these to 

be out of date, which was acknowledged by the partnership. We also identified a disparity Page 45



MID KENT AUDIT 
    
 

between the Private Water Supplies records held and those required under Schedule 4 

Private Water Supplies (England) Regulations 2016. We found risk assessments are 

completed, but identified two supply types were one was not carried out within the 

regulatory five year period. In the main, sampling is completed but through our testing we 

identified one supply type which has not been sampled. It was also unclear from the records 

checked and the conversations held with officers, whether the supply type is active or 

inactive. We also found six supply types had missing or incomplete sampling paperwork. 

 

Page 46



 

  

Audit Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date 24 January 2024 

Report Title Auditors Annual Report 2022/23 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement  

Lead Officer Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement  

Classification Open 

Recommendations Members are asked to: 

1. Note the external auditor’s annual report (Appendix I) 

2. Consider the recommendations set out within the 
auditor’s annual report and note the management 
responses. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 At the Audit Committee held on 23 October 2023, Grant Thornton provided their 

Audit Findings Report on the key matters from the audit of the Council’s Annual 
Financial Report for the year ended 31 March 2023. 

1.2 The Auditors Annual Report considers whether the Council has put in place 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of its resources.  An update on the recommendations made last year is also 
included within the report. 

2 Background 
 
2.1 The purpose of the Auditor’s Annual Report has changed from previous years.  

On 1 April 2020, the National Audit Office (NAO) introduced a new Code of Audit 
Practice which came into effect in 2020/21, which introduced a revised approach 
to the audit of Value For Money (VFM).  There are three main changes arising 
from the NAO’s new approach: 

• A new set of key criteria covering: 

o Financial sustainability; 

o Governance; and 

o Improvements in economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

• More extensive reporting by the auditors on arrangements across all the 
key criteria. 

• Auditors undertaking analysis on the Council’s VFM arrangements to 
arrive at a more sophisticated judgement on performance as well as key 
recommendations identified during the audit. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

  

2.2 The Auditor’s Annual Report provides the Audit Committee with the results of 
this approach to reviewing the Council’s VFM arrangements covering the three 
criteria listed above. 

2.3 The report is included in Appendix I and Grant Thornton will present their report 
to Committee. 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 The Auditors Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2023 is attached as 

Appendix I. 
 

3.2 It includes three recommendations which are detailed in the report and 
management comment has been provided for each one. 
 

3.3 The Audit Committee is asked to consider these recommendations. 
 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 The Audit Committee could choose to accept, reject or consider further each of 

the recommendations. 
 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 The Director of Resources was invited to comment on the recommendations. 
 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Good financial management and delivering Value For 
Money is key to supporting the Corporate Plan 
objectives. 

Financial, Resource and 
Property 

The External Auditor’s opinion is that the Council’s 
accounting statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2023 and 
its income and expenditure for the year then ended. 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

The production of the financial statements is a legal 
requirement under the 2015 Accounts and Audit 
regulations. 

Crime and Disorder No direct issues 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

No direct issues 

Health and Wellbeing No direct issues 

Page 48



 

  

Safeguarding of Children, 
Young People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

No direct issues 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

No direct issues 

Equality and Diversity No direct issues 

Privacy and Data Protection No direct issues 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of 

the report.   

• Appendix I:  Auditors Annual Report 2022/23 

 

8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 Detailed working papers are held in the Finance Department. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 51



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 52



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 53



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 54



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

P
age 55



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 56



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 57



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 58



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 59



Commercial in Confidence

•

•P
age 60



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 61



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 62



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 63



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 64



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 65



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

P
age 66



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 67



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 68



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 69



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 70



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 71



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 72



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 73

https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/publications/council/peer-review


Commercial in Confidence

P
age 74



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 75



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 76



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 77



Commercial in Confidence

•

•

•

P
age 78



P
age 79



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 80



Commercial in Confidence

P
age 81



P
age 82



 
1 

Audit Committee Meeting 
Meeting Date 24 January 2024 

Report Title Final Audit Findings Report 2022/23 

EMT Lead  Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Lead Officer Claire Stanbury, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Classification Open 

Recommendations Members are asked to: 

1. Note the updated external auditor’s Audit Findings 
Report (Appendix I); 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

1.1 This report seeks that the Audit Committee note the final external auditor’s Audit 
Findings Report 2022/23. 

2. Background 

Audit Findings Report 

2.1 Further to the audit opinion report considered by this committee on 23 October, 
which was subject to final audit completion, a further audit adjustment was 
identified by our external auditors, as detailed on page 28 of the final Audit 
Findings Report. 

2.2 The overall impact of this was nil, and the accounts have not been adjusted, as 
stated in the report. 

2.3 The report, included as Appendix I, is the final audit opinion for 2022-23 and is 
published on our website. 

3. Proposals 

3.1 The Audit Finding Report for the year ended 31 March 2023 is attached as 
Appendix I. 

3.2 Committee are asked to note the report and its findings. 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 None 

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

5.1 Consultation has taken place with Grant Thornton throughout this process.   

6. Implications 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 
2 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan 
Good financial management is key to supporting 
the Corporate Plan objectives. 

Financial, Resource and 
Property 

The External Auditor’s opinion is that the 
Council’s accounting statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Council as 
at 31 March 2023 and its income and expenditure 
for the year then ended. 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

The production of the financial statements is a 
legal requirement under the 2015 Accounts and 
Audit regulations as amended by the Accounts 
and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021.   

Crime and Disorder No direct issues 

Environment and Climate/ 
Ecological Emergency 

No direct issues 

Health and Wellbeing No direct issues 

Safeguarding of Children, 
Young People and Vulnerable 
Adults 

No direct issues 

Risk Management and Health 
and Safety 

No direct issues 

Equality and Diversity No direct issues 

Privacy and Data Protection No direct issues 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

7.1.1 Appendix I: Audit Findings Report 

8. Background Papers 

8.1 Detailed working papers are held in the Finance Department. 

 

Page 84



P
age 85



Commercial in confidence

P
age 86

mailto:sophia.y.brown@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 87



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 88



Commercial in confidence

P
age 89

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2023/about-time-local-authority-reports.pdf


Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 90



Commercial in confidence

P
age 91



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 92



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 93



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 94



Commercial in confidence

Land and Buildings - £76.4m 

Investment Properties - £4.1m 

Heritage Assets - £2.3m

 

Blue









P
age 95



Commercial in confidence

Net pension liability – 

£13.9 million •

•

•

•

•

•





















P
age 96



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•











P
age 97



Commercial in confidence

   

Assessment

  







P
age 98



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 99



Commercial in confidence

P
age 100



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 101



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 102



Commercial in confidence

P
age 103



Commercial in confidence

P
age 104



Commercial in confidence

P
age 105

https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/1.-member-firms/global/grant-thornton-international-ltd-transparency-report-may-2023.pdf
https://www.grantthornton.global/globalassets/1.-member-firms/global/grant-thornton-international-ltd-transparency-report-may-2023.pdf


Commercial in confidence

P
age 106



Commercial in confidence

Appendices





 

 



















P
age 107



Commercial in confidence





▪

•







P
age 108



Commercial in confidence

P
age 109



Commercial in confidence

P
age 110



Commercial in confidence

P
age 111



Commercial in confidence

P
age 112



Commercial in confidence

Certification of Housing Benefit Claim 

P
age 113



Commercial in confidence

P
age 114



Commercial in confidence

P
age 115



P
age 116


	Agenda
	5 Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25
	6 Treasury Management Half Year Report
	7 Internal Audit & Assurance Progress Report 2023/24
	Appendix Swale Internal Audit Progress Report 2023-24

	8 External Auditors Annual Report 2022/23
	Swale BC AAR 2022-23 Final - 12.01.2024
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Executive summary
	Slide 4: Executive summary (continued)
	Slide 5: Use of auditor's powers
	Slide 6: Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council’s use of resources
	Slide 7: The current LG landscape
	Slide 8: The current LG landscape (continued)
	Slide 9: Financial sustainability
	Slide 10: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 11: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 12: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 13: Financial governance
	Slide 14: Improvement recommendation
	Slide 15: Governance
	Slide 16: Governance (continued)
	Slide 17: Governance (continued)
	Slide 18: Governance (continued)
	Slide 19: Improvement recommendation
	Slide 20: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 21: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 22: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 23: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 24: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 25: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 26: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 27: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 28: Other reporting requirements
	Slide 29
	Slide 30: Appendix A: Responsibilities of the Council
	Slide 31: Appendix B: An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 32


	9 Urgent Item - Final Audit Findings Report
	SBC AFR 2022-23 to Management - FINAL 01122023
	Slide 1: The Audit Findings Report for Swale Borough Council
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: 1. Headlines
	Slide 4: 1. Headlines
	Slide 5: 1. Headlines
	Slide 6: 2. Financial Statements 
	Slide 7: 2. Financial Statements
	Slide 8: 2. Financial Statements: Significant risks
	Slide 9: 2. Financial Statements: Significant risks
	Slide 10: 2. Financial Statements: Significant risks
	Slide 11: 2. Financial Statements: key judgements and estimates
	Slide 12: 2. Financial Statements: key judgements and estimates
	Slide 13: 2. Financial Statements: key judgements and estimates
	Slide 14: 2. Financial Statements: Information Technology
	Slide 15: 2. Financial Statements: matters discussed with management
	Slide 16: 2. Financial Statements: other communication requirements
	Slide 17: 2. Financial Statements: other communication requirements
	Slide 18: 2. Financial Statements: other responsibilities under the Code
	Slide 19: 3. Value for Money arrangements (VFM)
	Slide 20: 3. VFM - our procedures and action plan
	Slide 21: 4. Independence and ethics 
	Slide 22
	Slide 23: A. Communication of audit matters to those charged with governance
	Slide 24: B. Action Plan – Audit of Financial Statements
	Slide 25: C. Audit Adjustments
	Slide 26: C. Audit Adjustments
	Slide 27: C. Audit Adjustments (continued)
	Slide 28: C. Audit Adjustments (continued)
	Slide 29: D. Fees and non-audit services
	Slide 30: D. Fees and non-audit services 
	Slide 31: E. Audit letter in respect of delayed VFM work
	Slide 32



